
#plymcabinet

Cabinet

Tuesday 27 June 2017
4 pm
Council House, Plymouth

Members:
Councillor Bowyer, Chair
Councillor Nicholson, Vice Chair
Councillors Mrs Beer, Mrs Bowyer, Darcy, Downie, Jordan, Michael Leaves, Ricketts and Riley.

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf.

This agenda acts as notice that Cabinet will be considering business in private if items are 
included in Part II of the agenda.

This meeting will be broadcast live to the internet and will be capable of subsequent repeated 
viewing.  By entering the Warspite Room and during the course of the meeting, Councillors are 
consenting to being filmed and to the use of those recordings for webcasting.

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy.

For further information on webcasting, attending Council meetings and how to engage in the 
democratic process please follow this link http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings

Tracey Lee
Chief Executive

Democratic and Member Support
Chief Executive’s Department
Plymouth City Council
Ballard House
Plymouth  PL1 3BJ

Please ask for  Ross Jago
T 01752 304469
E ross.jago@plymouth.gov.uk
www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy
Published 19 June 2017

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/


Cabinet

Agenda

Part I  (Public Meeting)

1. Apologies  

To receive apologies for absence submitted by Cabinet Members.

2. Declarations of Interest  (Pages 1 - 2)

Cabinet Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items 
on this agenda.  A flowchart providing guidance on interests is attached to assist 
councillors.

3. Questions from the Public  

To receive questions from the public in accordance with the Constitution.

Questions, of no longer than 50 words, can be submitted to the Democratic Support 
Unit, Plymouth City Council, Ballard House, Plymouth, PL1 3BJ, or email to 
democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk. Any questions must be received at least five clear 
working days before the date of the meeting.

4. Chair's Urgent Business  

To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 
forward for urgent consideration.

5. Health Improvement Contract Award  (Pages 3 - 16)

6. Annual Treasury Management Report  (Pages 17 - 34)

mailto:DEMOCRATICSUPPORT@plymouth.gov.uk


DECLARING INTERESTS – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF

   No  Yes

No Yes

  

  

D
P
I

Does the business relate to or is it likely to affect a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI)?  This will include 
the interests of a spouse or civil partner (and co-habitees):

 any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation that they carry on for profit or gain
 any sponsorship that they receive including contributions to their expenses as a councillor or the 

councillor’s election expenses from a Trade Union
 any land licence or tenancy they have in Plymouth
 any current contracts leases or tenancies  between the Council and them
 any current contracts leases or tenancies  between the Council and any organisation with land in 

Plymouth in they are a partner, a paid Director, or have a relevant interest in its shares and 
securities

 any organisation which has land or a place of business in Plymouth and in which they have a 
relevant interest in its shares or its securities

What matters are being discussed?

P
r
i
v
a
t
e

I
n
t
e
r
e
s
t

Does the business affect the well-being or financial position of (or relate to the approval, consent, licence or 
permission) for:

 a member of your family or 
 any person with whom you have a close association; or
 any organisation of which you are a member or are involved in its management (whether or not 

appointed to that body by the council).  This would include membership of a secret society and 
other similar organisations.

Yes           No You can speak and vote

 

Yes No

Speak to Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting to avoid risk of allegations of corruption 
or bias

Declare interest and leave (or obtain 
a dispensation)

Declare the interest and speak and 
vote 

Will it confer an advantage or disadvantage on your family, close associate or an organisation 
where you have a private interest more than it affects other people living or working in the 
ward?

C
a
b
i
n
e
t

Cabinet members must declare and give brief details about any conflict of interest* relating to the matter to 
be decided and leave the room when the matter is being considered. Cabinet members may apply to the 
Monitoring Officer for a dispensation in respect of any conflict of interest.

*A conflict of interest is a situation in which a councillor’s responsibility to act and take decisions impartially, 
fairly and on merit without bias may conflict with his/her personal interest in the situation or where s/he may 
profit personally from the decisions that s/he is about to take.





1

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

Subject: Health Improvement Service Contract Award 
Committee: Cabinet

Date: 27th June 2017

Cabinet Member: Councillor L Bowyer 

CMT Member: Ruth Harrell (Director of Public Health) 

Author: Sarah Lees (Consultant in Public Health) 

Contact details Tel:  01752 398605
Email: sarah.lees@plymouth.gov.uk

Ref: PEO/16118 

Key Decision: Yes 

Part: I

Purpose of the report:

The Public Health Outcomes Framework ‘Healthy lives, healthy people: Improving outcomes and 
supporting transparency’, sets out a vision for public health, desired outcomes and the indicators that 
will help us understand how well public health is being improved and protected. The framework 
concentrates on two high-level outcomes (life expectancy and healthy life expectancy) to be achieved 
across the public health system.

Public health interventions by nature deliver improvements in outcomes over extended periods, 
usually some years and sometimes decades. To understand progress in the shorter term, a series of 
indicators are provided, grouped in 4 domains:

1. Improving the wider determinants of health
2. Health Improvement
3. Health Protection
4. Healthcare public health and preventing premature mortality

Domain 2: Health Improvement is the focus of this service and the objective is to help people to live 
healthy lifestyles, make healthy choices and reduce health inequalities. The work of the Health 
Improvement Service will largely be focused around this domain, although the work will also 
contribute to specific elements of activity in all domains.

In order to secure a provider for this service the Council has undertaken a competitive procurement
in accordance with the Public Contact Regulations 2015 and Council Standing Orders. 

This report describes the key stages of the procurement process and seeks approval from
Cabinet for contract award.   

For reasons of commercial confidentiality further details of the process and outcome are 
included within a separate Part 2 report.  



2

The Corporate Plan 2016 – 19:

The Health Improvement Service will support Plymouth to deliver an outstanding quality of life which 
is enjoyed by everyone through addressing three of the four key corporate objectives:

 PIONEERING Plymouth

The new service will be a system leader, working with a collaboration of providers that have an 
interest and ability to improve the current system to ensure that evidenced based approaches are 
being used across the system, to meet the needs of individuals and achieve targets across the 
whole population. It will use new technology appropriately in its universal offer to deliver health 
improvements to a wide range of people who prefer to access information in this way, whilst 
targeting other means of support to those who need it 

 GROWING Plymouth

The service will develop the whole city health improvement workforce and ‘up skill’ across a 
range of front line staff to improve the quality of provision, using the Make Every Contact Count 
approach. This will improve access through people and networks, allowing the health 
improvement service to be more targeted and specialist

 CARING Plymouth 

This service supports the Plymouth public health 10 year programme, ‘Thrive Plymouth’ which 
focuses health improvement on the 4 health behaviours that cause 54% of the deaths in the city, 
whilst ensuring that mental health has parity with physical health.  Another key strategic aim is to 
reduce the health inequalities that result in a gap in life expectancy between our most deprived 
and least deprived communities.  

Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:    
Including finance, human, IT and land:

The service contract value is £1.1 million following a full year reduction of £69,000 on the previous 
contract, which is required as a contribution to the reduced public health grant allocation. It is not 
proposed to make further savings given the growing demand for health improvement and prevention, 
and the ambition of the Wellbeing Strategy and Sustainability and Transformation Plan to move 
resources within the health and care system towards prevention.

However, we will expect the provider to increase the number of people supported by the service 
over the life of the contract which adds value to the contract.  

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management:

This service will contribute towards the delivery of an integrated system for population health and 
wellbeing. It specifically supports the delivery of the Wellbeing Strategy focus on promoting healthy 
and happy communities and a radical upgrade in prevention. 



3

Equality and Diversity

An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken.  This service takes a population wide approach 
to primary prevention. However, we know that giving every child the best start in life is crucial to 
reducing health inequalities across the life course. In addition, Thrive Plymouth, supported by this 
service, has a target population each year. In 2015-16 it was school children and in 2016-17 it is 
people in midlife.

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action:

To award a contract for a Health Improvement Service to a single provider for a period of 3 years 
with the option to extend for a further 3 x 1 years.   

Evaluation of the Invitation to Tender response indicates that they:  

 Have a good understanding of the demographic make-up of Plymouth and the key health 
indicators and factors and groups of interest, including geographic areas where poorest 
outcomes are experienced.   

 Demonstrate good awareness of the Thrive Plymouth 10 year plan   
 Will be using their access to over 3000 users of their services to understand need and to 

target health improvement directly to users of health and social care services.
 Are committed to putting Wellbeing at the centre of their strategic approach in everything 

they do
 Use national Information Standards and the national Public Health England ‘One You’ digital 

strategy and tool 
 Demonstrate a clear understanding of uses of digital technology to improve customers’ health 

literacy and raising awareness, whilst identifying the barriers and mitigations associated with 
use of digital technology

 Have good experience of community development and assets based approaches 
 Have a clear understanding of vision for the Health and Wellbeing Hubs and will work with 

partners to build capacity and capability to deliver health improvement interventions in hubs 
context

 Have good mechanisms to ensure quality and safety of their services including using the 
customer and stakeholder voice

 Will develop their workforce appropriately to ensure continual improvement

Alternative options considered and rejected:

Extend Exisiting Contracts
Plymouth City Council’s Contract Standing Orders do not allow the existing contracts for health 
improvement services to be extended.  

Published work / information:
Equality Impact Assessment



4

Background papers:
Health Improvement Service Specification
  

Exemption Paragraph NumberTitle Part 1 Part II
1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Equality Impact Assessment YES
  

Sign off:  

Fin djn17
18.40

Leg MS/28
308

Mon 
Off

N/A HR N/
A

Assets N/
A

IT N
/
A

Strat 
Proc

HG/SPU/4
45CP/061
7

Originating SMT Member Ruth Harrell  Ruth Harrell 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  Yes 



5

1. INTRODUCTION
This report outlines the background and rationale for the commissioning of a Health Improvement 
Service. It outlines the procurement process including the evaluation methodology and the evaluation 
process.   It makes a recommendation to award the contract.

2. BACKGROUND
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires each local authority to ‘take such steps as it considers 
appropriate for improving the health of the people in its area’ and to work with Public Health England 
to ‘have regard to the need to reduce inequalities between the people of England.’

The Care Act 2014 states that ‘local authorities must promote wellbeing when carrying out any of 
their care and support functions in respect of a person’. The Care Act provides new and exciting 
opportunities to work across health and social care and address the key issues that undermine health 
and wellbeing. While some members of the population may require more targeted, intensive or 
specialist help, they should still have access to universal or primary prevention support, including 
accessing local social networks.

Health improvement is one of the 4 domains in the national Public Health Outcomes Framework. An 
important local context is the Plymouth public health 10 year programme, ‘Thrive Plymouth’ which 
focuses health improvement on the 4 health behaviours that cause 54% of the deaths in the city, 
whilst ensuring that mental health has parity with physical health.  Another key strategic aim for 
health improvement in Plymouth is to reduce the health inequalities that result in a gap in life 
expectancy between our most deprived and least deprived communities. 

The vision for the health improvement system is that: ‘there is a joined-up health improvement 
system, with a commissioned service providing leadership to the rest of the system, which delivers a 
well evaluated programme of interventions that achieve improved health and wellbeing and reduce 
health inequalities across the city and that can be shared to build capacity across the system and meet 
the needs of a growing number of individuals’

This service will deliver an integrated health improvement service for the Plymouth local authority 
area that connects, empowers, enables and motivates Plymouth residents who wish to improve their 
health or that of those they care for to do so. Taking a whole-systems and life course approach the 
service will contribute to the improvement of the health and wellbeing of all residents of Plymouth 
and focus on improving the health and wellbeing of those people with the poorest health and 
wellbeing first. Services will need to meet the needs for all age groups and be delivered in range of 
ways and settings to best meet that need. 

In brief the integrated service will cover;

• Helping people to stop smoking tobacco

• Helping people to minimise exposure to second hand smoke

• Helping people to eat healthily and to achieve and maintain a healthy weight

• Helping people to be more physically active

• Helping people to drink alcohol responsibly and safely

• Helping people to achieve and maintain good mental health and emotional wellbeing 

• An outreach service to provide NHS Healthchecks to target population groups



6

Funding available for the Service:

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Total £1,100,000 £1,100,000 £1,100,000 £1,100,000

3. PRE TENDER SELECTION CRITERIA
A competitive procurement was run as a one stage process incorporating a Supplier Questionnaire 
followed by a Tender evaluation.  

The invitation to tender document was published electronically via the Procurement Portal 
(www.supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk ) in accordance with the following timeline:

Activity Date

OJEU Notice Published 8th March 2017

Dispatch of ITT 9th March 2017

Deadline for ITT Clarifications 29th March 2017

Deadline for Responses to Clarifications 5th April 2017

Return of ITT 12th April 2017

Evaluation of ITT 11th May 2017

Post Tender Clarifications 18th May 2017

Tender Presentation 23rd May 2017

Selection of successful Tenderer 27th June 2017

Notification of successful Tenderer/Commencement of standstill period 30th June 2017

Contract Award 24th July 2017

Contract Start Date 1st October 2017

The Supplier Questionnaire (SQ)  

Providers were required to submit an SQ. Each one was assessed and scores were used to select 
which Providers were to be shortlisted for the next stage of the procurement. 

The following sections of the SQ contained mandatory questions, the responses to which were either 
reviewed and treated as pass or fail criteria, or were evaluated and awarded a score:

SQ 
Section

Section Title Question Type Weighting (%)

Section 1 Potential supplier information, Bidding 
Model and Contact Details & 
Declaration 

Information only NA

Sections  
2 & 3

Grounds for mandatory exclusion and 
Grounds for discretionary exclusion

Self-certification

Pass/Fail

NA

http://www.supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk/


7

SQ 
Section

Section Title Question Type Weighting (%)

Sections 
4 & 5

Economic and Financial Standing and 
Guarantees

Self-certification 

Pass / fail 

NA

Section 6 Technical and Professional Ability Scored 15%

Section 7 Modern Slavery Act 2015: Requirements 
under Modern Slavery Act 2015

Self-certification

Pass/Fail

NA

Section 8 Additional Questions 

8.1 Insurance Pass/fail NA

8.2 Compliance with equality legislation Pass/fail NA

8.3 Health and safety Pass/fail NA

8.4 Timescales Pass/fail NA

8.5 Data Protection Pass/fail NA

8.6 Quality Management Pass/fail NA

8.7 Disputes Scored 5%

8.8 Business Capability

(a) Main activities

(b) Experience of delivering similar 
services

(c) Collaborative working and 
community development 
approaches

(d) Management capacity and capability

(e) Evaluation

(f) Business continuity

Scored

5%

15%

15%

10%

15%

5%

65%

8.9 Social Value Scored 10%

8.10 Safeguarding Scored 5%

These weightings and the scoring methodology for each section were published in the 
documentation.

The overall threshold (minimum) score for this Supplier Questionnaire was 68

4. TENDER EVALUATION METHODOLOGY
The project evaluation weightings were agreed prior to despatch of the tender documentation and 
were published in the ITT: 



8

5. SUMMARY OF TENDER QUESTIONNAIRE EVALUATION
1: Price

The council did not evaluate price as tenderers were required to utilise 100% of the total budget of 
£1,100,000 per annum, as this was a fixed price tender.  

2.1 Technical Response

The completed tender was evaluated by a team of individuals / stakeholders with various skill sets 
from across the business, in order to ensure both transparency and robustness, as follows:

Sarah Lees Consultant in Public Health, Plymouth City Council
Rachel Silcock Commissioning Officer, Plymouth City Council
Lynne Kilner Commissioning Manager, Clinical Commissioning Group
Dan Preece Advanced Public Health Practitioner, Plymouth City Council
Bernadette Smith Senior HR and OD Business Partner, Plymouth City Council
Louise Kelley Sports Development Manager, Plymouth City Council
Karlina Hall Commissioning Officer, Plymouth City Council
Julie Frier Consultant in Public Health Medicine, Plymouth City Council
Phil Bees Product Portfolio Manager, Plymouth City Council

The tender was evaluated to identify the extent to which the tenderer had the ability, experience, 
and capacity to deliver the service. The technical response was evaluated to identify how well the 
tenderer would meet the service specification requirements.  

2.2 Financial Response:

The response to financial sustainability section  was evaluated to identify any risks and to ensure that 
the full-cost recovery price/offer was sustainable. This was assessed by:

Phil Bees PCC Product Portfolio Manager, Plymouth City Council
Kerry Malton Senior Technical Accounting Officer, Plymouth City Council

Award Criteria Weighting 
(%)

Sub Criteria (%)

Financial 0 Price

Purpose 10%

Financial Sustainability 4%

Service details and key tasks 28%

Performance 10%

Quality Requirements 5%

Management and Operation 5%

Implementation 8%

Technical 90%

Panel Presentation – System leader role 20%

Proposed contracts, 
collaborations and 
partnerships

10%



9

Helen Foote Finance Business Partner, Plymouth City Council

3: Panel Presentation

The tendering organisations gave a presentation to a panel consisting of:

Sarah Lees Consultant in Public Health, Plymouth City Council
Rachel Silcock Commissioning Officer, Plymouth City Council
Julie Frier Consultant in Public Health Medicine, Plymouth City Council
Dr Ed Parry-Jones General Practitioner and Clinical Lead for Long Term Conditions, CCG
Karen Marcellino Manager Healthwatch and Headcount

6. RECOMMENDATIONS
That there is approval to award the contract to the winning submission for a period of three years 
with the option to extend for a further three years in annual increments (Consideration of any 
contract extension would be subject to a future officer delegated authority decision).  









CITY OF PLYMOUTH

Subject: Annual Report on Treasury Management Activities 
for 2016/17

Committee: Audit Committee

Date: 29th June 2017

Cabinet Member: Councillor Darcy

CMT Member: Andrew Hardingham (Interim Joint Strategic Director 
Transformation and Change)

Author: Chris Flower (Finance Business Partner – Accountant 
for Capital and Treasury Management)

Contact: Tel: 01752 304212

Email: chris.flower@plymouth.gov.uk

Ref: Fin/CF

Key Decision No

Part: I 

Purpose of the report:

In order to comply with the Code of Practice for Treasury Management, the Council is 
required to formally report on its treasury management activities for the year, providing 
information on the progress and outcomes against the Treasury Management Strategy. 
This report covers the treasury management activities for financial year 2016/17 including 
the final position on the statutory Prudential Indicators. 

This report:
a) is prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and the 

Prudential Code;
b) confirms capital financing, borrowing, debt rescheduling and investment 

transactions for the year 2016/17;
c) provides an update on the risk inherent in the portfolio and outlines actions taken 

by the Council during the year to minimise risk;
d) gives details of the outturn position on Treasury Management transactions in 

2016/17;
e) confirms compliance with treasury limits and Prudential Indicators (PIs) and the 

outlines the final position on the PI’s for the year.

In line with the recommendations in the Code of Practice, this report is submitted to 
Audit Committee as the committee responsible for scrutiny of the treasury management 
function.

In accordance with Treasury Management Practices note 6, this report is required to be 
submitted to Full Council.



Page 2

The Council Corporate Plan 2016/19

Effective financial management is fundamental to the delivery of corporate improvement 
priorities. Treasury Management activity has a significant impact on the Council’s activity 
both in revenue budget terms and capital investment and is a key factor in facilitating the 
delivery against a number of corporate priorities.

Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:    
Including finance, human, IT and land

Into the medium and longer term the Council is facing significant pressures due to the 
national economic situation, which has led to a reduction in resources for local authorities 
over the Government’s latest spending period. Effective Treasury Management will be 
essential in ensuring the Council’s cash flows are used to effectively support the challenges 
ahead. 

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety, 
Risk Management and Equality:
 
There is an inherent risk to any Treasury Management activity. The Council continues to 
manage this risk by ensuring all investments are undertaken in accordance with the 
approved investment strategy, and keeping the counterparty list under constant review. 

Recommendations & Reasons for recommended action:

1. To note the Treasury Management Annual Report 2016/17.
2. To refer the Treasury Management Annual Report 2016/17 to Full Council for 

approval.

This is to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice and discharge our statutory 
requirement. 

Alternative options considered and reasons for recommended action:

None - it is requirement to report to Council on the treasury management activities for 
the year.  
____________________________________________________________________
Background papers:

 Treasury Management Strategy report to Council 27 February 2017
 Mid-Year Review report to Audit Committee 8 December 2016 

Sign off:  
Fin AKH17

18.29
Leg/ 
Dem&
Gov

DVS28
241

HR n/a Corp
Prop

n/a IT n/a Strat 
Proc

n/a

Originating SMT Member: Andrew Hardingham, Interim Joint Strategic Director Transformation 
and Change
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report? Yes



Page 3

Annual Report on Treasury Management Activities for 2016/17 

Introduction  

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management Code 
(CIPFA’s TM Code) requires that authorities report on the performance of the treasury 
management function at least twice a year (mid-year and at year end). 

The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2016/17 was approved by Council on   
16 February 2016. The Council has borrowed and invested sums of money and is 
therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue 
effect of changing interest rates.  This report covers treasury management activity and the 
associated monitoring and control of risk. 

External Context

Economic background: Politically, 2016/17 was an extraordinary twelve month period 
which defied expectations when the UK voted to leave the European Union and Donald 
Trump was elected the 45th President of the USA.  Uncertainty over the outcome of the 
US presidential election, the UK’s future relationship with the EU and the slowdown 
witnessed in the Chinese economy in early 2016 all resulted in significant market volatility 
during the year.  Article 50 of the Lisbon Treaty, which sets in motion the 2-year exit 
period from the EU, was triggered on 29th March 2017.

UK inflation had been subdued in the first half of 2016 as a consequence of weak global 
price pressures, past movements in sterling and restrained domestic price growth.  
However the sharp fall in the Sterling exchange rate following the referendum had an 
impact on import prices which, together with rising energy prices, resulted in CPI rising 
from 0.3% year/year in April 2016 to 2.3% year/year in March 2017. 

In addition to the political fallout, the referendum’s outcome also prompted a decline in 
household, business and investor sentiment. The repercussions on economic growth were 
judged by the Bank of England to be sufficiently severe to prompt its Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) to cut the Bank Rate to 0.25% in August and embark on further gilt and 
corporate bond purchases as well as provide cheap funding for banks via the Term Funding 
Scheme to maintain the supply of credit to the economy. 

Despite growth forecasts being downgraded, economic activity was fairly buoyant and 
GDP grew 0.6%, 0.5% and 0.7% in the second, third and fourth calendar quarters of 2016.  
The labour market also proved resilient, with the ILO (International Labour Organisation). 
unemployment rate dropping to 4.7% in February, its lowest level in 11 years. 



Page 4

Following a strengthening labour market, in moves that were largely anticipated, the US 
Federal Reserve increased rates at its meetings in December 2016 and March 2017, taking 
the target range for official interest rates to between 0.75% and 1.00%. 

Financial markets: Following the referendum result, gilt yields fell sharply across the 
maturity spectrum on the view that Bank Rate would remain extremely low for the 
foreseeable future.  After September there was a reversal in longer-dated gilt yields which 
moved higher, largely due to the MPC revising its earlier forecast that Bank Rate would be 
dropping to near 0% by the end of 2016. The yield on the 10-year gilt rose from 0.75% at 
the end of September to 1.24% at the end of December, almost back at pre-referendum 
levels of 1.37% on 23rd June. 20- and 50-year gilt yields also rose in Q3 2017 to 1.76% and 
1.70% respectively, however in Q4 yields remained flat at around 1.62% and 1.58% 
respectively.

After recovering from an initial sharp drop in Q2, equity markets rallied, although 
displaying some volatility at the beginning of November following the US presidential 
election result.  The FTSE-100 and FTSE All Share indices closed at 7342 and 3996 
respectively on 31st March, both up 18% over the year. Commercial property values fell 
around 5% after the referendum, but had mostly recovered by the end of March.
Money market rates for overnight and one week periods remained low since Bank Rate 
was cut in August. 1- and 3-month LIBID rates averaged 0.36% and 0.47% respectively 
during 2016-17. Rates for 6- and 12-months increased between August and November, 
only to gradually fall back to August levels in March, they averaged 0.6% and 0.79% 
respectively during 2016-17.

Credit background: Various indicators of credit risk reacted negatively to the result of 
the referendum on the UK’s membership of the European Union.  UK bank credit default 
swaps saw a modest rise but bank share prices fell sharply, on average by 20%, with UK-
focused banks experiencing the largest falls. Non-UK bank share prices were not immune, 
although the fall in their share prices was less pronounced.  
Fitch and Standard & Poor’s downgraded the UK’s sovereign rating to AA. Fitch, S&P and 
Moody’s have a negative outlook on the UK.  Moody’s has a negative outlook on those 
banks and building societies that it perceives to be exposed to a more challenging 
operating environment arising from the ‘leave’ outcome. 

None of the banks on the Council’s lending list failed the stress tests conducted by the 
European Banking Authority in July and by the Bank of England in November, the latter 
being designed with more challenging stress scenarios, although Royal Bank of Scotland 
was one of the weaker banks in both tests.  The tests were based on banks’ financials as at 
31st December 2015, 11 months out of date for most.  As part of its creditworthiness 
research and advice, the Council’s treasury advisor Arlingclose regularly undertakes 
analysis of relevant ratios - "total loss absorbing capacity" (TLAC) or "minimum 



Page 5

requirement for eligible liabilities" (MREL) - to determine whether there would be a bail-in 
of senior investors, such as local authority unsecured investments, in a stressed scenario. 

Local Context

On 31st March 2017, the Council had net borrowing of £265m arising from its revenue 
and capital income and expenditure, an increase on 2016 of £60m. The underlying need to 
borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), 
while usable reserves and working capital are the underlying resources available for 
investment. These factors and the year-on-year change are summarised in table 1 below.

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary

31.3.16
Actual

£m

2016/17
Movement

£m

31.3.17
Actual

£m
General Fund CFR 306 51 357
Less: Other debt liabilities * -125 12 -113
Borrowing CFR 181 63 244
Less: Usable reserves -51 -1 -50
Less: Working capital -27 -2 -29
Net borrowing 203 60 265
* finance leases, PFI liabilities and transferred debt that form part of the Council’s total debt

Net borrowing has increased due to a rise in the CFR as new capital expenditure was 
higher than the financing applied including minimum revenue provision; together with a 
small decrease in usable reserves and a fall in working capital due to the timing of receipts 
and payments.

Borrowing Activity

At 31st March 2017, the Council held £287m of loans, (an increase of £44m on 
31/03/2016) as part of its strategy for funding previous years’ capital programmes.  See 
table 2 below.

The Council’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an appropriately low risk 
balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period 
for which funds are required, with flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Council’s 
long-term plans change being a secondary objective. 

Affordability and the “cost of carry” remained important influences on the Council’s 
borrowing strategy alongside the consideration that, for any borrowing undertaken ahead 
of need, the proceeds would have to be invested in the money markets at rates of interest 
significantly lower than the cost of borrowing. As short-term interest rates have remained 



Page 6

and are likely to remain at least over the forthcoming two years, lower than long-term 
rates, the Council determined it was more cost effective in the short-term to borrow 
short-term loans instead.  

The benefits of internal borrowing were monitored regularly against the potential for 
incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years when long-term 
borrowing rates are forecast to rise.  Arlingclose assists the Council with this ‘cost of 
carry’ and breakeven analysis. Temporary and short-dated loans borrowed from the 
markets, predominantly from other local authorities, also remained affordable and 
attractive. 

Table 2: Borrowing Activity

Balance on 
01/04/2016

£m

Movement
£m

Balance on 
31/03/2017  

£m

Avg 
Rate 

% 

Public Works Loan Board 44 0 44 5.76%

Banks - LOBOs 100 (18) 82 4.38%

Banks - Fixed Long Term 0 18 18 4.37%

Short Term Borrowing 99 44 143 0.05%

TOTAL BORROWING 243 44 287 4.85%

Other Long Term Liabilities 125 (12) 113 -

TOTAL EXTERNAL 
DEBT 368 32 400 -

Increase/ (Decrease) in 
Borrowing £m   32  

LOBOs
The Council holds £82m (£100m in 2016) of LOBO (Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option) 
loans where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate at set 
dates. The Council then has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay the loan 
at no additional cost. During the year £26m of our LOBOs had options, none of which 
were exercised by the lender. 

During 2016 Barclays Bank informed the Council that it had revoked its rights to exercise 
their options in future and £18m of LOBOs has therefore been reclassified as fixed rate 
long term loans. 



Page 7

LGA Bond Agency
UK Municipal Bonds Agency (MBA) plc. was established in 2014 by the Local Government 
Association as an alternative to the PWLB with plans to issue bonds on the capital 
markets and lend the proceeds to local authorities. In early 2016 the Agency declared 
itself open for business, initially only to English local authorities. The Council has analysed 
the potential rewards and risks of borrowing from the MBA and has approved and signed 
the Municipal Bond Agencies framework agreement which sets out the terms upon which 
local authorities will borrow, including details of the joint and several guarantee.

As at 31st March 2017 no bonds have been issued by the Municipal Bonds Agency.

Debt Rescheduling

The PWLB continued to operate a spread of approximately 1% between “premature 
repayment rate” and “new loan” rates so the premium charge for early repayment of 
PWLB debt remained relatively expensive for the loans in the Council’s portfolio and 
therefore unattractive for debt rescheduling activity.  No rescheduling activity was 
undertaken as a consequence. 

Other Debt Activities

Although not classified as borrowing, the Council has capital finance from Private Finance 
Initiatives and Finance Leases and as at 31st March 2017 this amounted to £113m.

The liability for the PFI scheme has increased our requirement for finance and therefore 
we increased our Operational Boundary and Authorised limit to allow for this.  

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)

Under regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 SI 2003/146, as amended, local authorities are required to charge to 
their revenue account, for each financial year, MRP for the cost of their unfinanced capital 
expenditure.

There have been recent changes to the advice from CIPFA on MRP calculations and the 
use of the annuity method. Prior years involved detailed calculations which were very 
perspective but these have been replaced with a requirement that local authorities 
calculate an amount or MRP which they consider to be prudent.  

During 2015/16 the Council carried out a review of its MRP calculation method and 
accounting assumptions. The Council’s calculations were driven by a very complex 
methodology that needed a full overhaul. The Council therefore engaged its TM advisors, 
Arlingclose to review and advise practice. The main conclusions were that, due to the way 



Page 8

we were calculating our annual MRP charge has resulted in an over-provision for many 
years and it also recommended a change in the calculation method.

The Council wanted to match the economic benefits from its assets with the life of those 
assets. Therefore the Council change its calculation method to the annuity method which 
not only spreads the cost of the borrowing over the life of the assets but it also takes into 
account the time value of money.

The Council’s previous method of calculating MRP was to spread the cost of borrowing in 
a straight line over a maximum of 25 years. The current council tax payers would 
therefore pay a relative higher charge than council tax payers in the future. For example if 
an asset cost of £20m to build and has a life of 20 years then there would have been a 
£1m charged each year on the straight line basis. The annuity method takes into account 
the time of value because £1m today has a higher value (NPV) that £1m in 20 years’ time.

The resulting change from the over provision of MRP in prior years reduced the MRP 
charge in 2015/16 by £5.960m and £3.652m in 2016/17.

To assist the Council in keeping a balance budget for 2016/17 the Council used £0.267m 
of capital receipt towards the MRP charge for 2016/17.



Page 9

Investment Activity 

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2016/17, the Council’s investment 
and cash balances ranged between £70 and £100 million due to timing differences between 
income and expenditure. The year-end investment position and the year-on-year change in 
show in table 3 below.

The Guidance on Local Government Investments in England gives priority to security and 
liquidity and the Council’s aim is to achieve a yield commensurate with these principles. 

Table 3: Investment Activity in 2016/17

Investments
Balance on 
01/04/2016

£m
Movement 

£m

Balance on 
30/03/2017  

£m

Avg 
Rate/Yield 

(%)
Short term 
Investments (call 
accounts etc.)

13 3 16 0.01%

Covered Bonds and 
Loans 13 (2) 11 1.35%

Money Market Funds 14 (1) 13 0.28%

Other Pooled Funds 22 0 22 3.25%

Other Deposits 13 4 17 0.94%

TOTAL 
INVESTMENTS 75 4 79

Increase/ (Decrease) 
in Investments £m 4

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Council to invest its funds 
prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before 
seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money 
is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of 
incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income.

Security of capital has remained the Council’s main investment objective. This has been 
maintained by following the Council’s counterparty policy as set out in its Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement. 

Counterparty credit quality was assessed and monitored with reference to credit ratings 
(the Council’s minimum long-term counterparty rating is A across rating agencies Fitch, 
S&P and Moody’s); for financial institutions analysis of funding structure and susceptibility 



Page 10

to bail-in, credit default swap prices, financial statements, information on potential 
government support and reports in the quality financial press. 

Given the increasing risk and falling returns from short-term unsecured bank investments, 
the Council wants to diversify into higher yielding long term asset classes.



Page 11

Treasury Management Outturn 2016/17

Budget Income and Expenditure

Treasury Management Outturn Position 2016/17 

 2016/17 
Budget

2016/17 
Outturn

Year End 
Variance

 £m £m £m

Interest Payable 3.060

LOBO (Lender Option, Borrower Option) 4.378

PWLB (Public Works Loan Board) 2.550

Temporary loans 0.409

Internal Interest 0.119

Recharge to Departments for Unsupported 
Borrowing (in accordance with business cases) (5.025)

Total Interest Payable 3.060 2.431 (0.629)

Interest Receivable (1.257)

CCLA Property Fund (1.006)

Money Market Fund (0.089)

Deposits (0.061)

Other Accounts (0.105)

Other External Interest (0.176)

Total Interest Receivable (1.257) (1.437) (0.180)

Other Charges

Debt Management 0.126 0.295 0.169

Amortised Premiums (0.096) 0.117 0.213

Total Other Charges 0.030 0.412 0.382

Minimum Revenue Provision 2.574 1.853 (0.721)

TOTAL 4.407 3.259 (1.148)

The UK Bank Rate which has been maintained at 0.5% since March 2009 fell in August 
2016 to 0.25%.  Short-term money market rates have fallen to lower levels. Investments in 
Money Market Funds generated an average rate of 0.28%.  The average cash balances were 
£19.8m during the year.

The Council’s budgeted investment income for the year was £1.257m.  The Council’s 
investment outturn for the year was £1.437m.



Page 12

The Treasury Management budget is a held as a subset of the Corporate Items budget 
with the Council’s General Fund.  Whilst interest costs are slightly less than the budget 
there are a number of factors that contribute to the final position.  Whilst the Council not 
only borrows to finance capital expenditure, it also has to maintain a daily net cash surplus 
position.  The costs of borrowing to finance invest to save capital schemes is charged to 
departments.  The figures above include the borrowing implications of decisions to utilise 
the Asset Investment Fund to acquire assets to earn a revenue return which is accounted 
for in directorate’s budgets.  

The MRP differential derived as a consequence of the changes to the MRP financing policy 
agreed in 2016/17 has been used to offset amortised premiums and the increase in the PFI 
financing requirements and factored into the overall revenue outturn position to enable 
the Council to break even at year end.  

The TM budget has also benefited from repayment of loans enabling service departments 
to release back to revenue provisions previously created as the risk of default was 
considered high.

Externally Managed Funds
The Council also has investments in cash plus bond and property funds which allow the 
Council to diversify into asset classes other than cash with the need to own and manage 
the underlying investments. The funds which are operated on a variable net asset value 
(VNAV) basis offer diversification of investment risk, coupled with the services of a 
professional fund manager; they also offer enhanced returns over the longer term but are 
more volatile in the short-term. All of the Council’s pooled fund investments are in the 
respective fund’s distributing share class which pay out the income generated.

Although money can be redeemed from the pooled funds at short notice, the Council’s 
intention is to hold them for the medium-term.  Their performance and suitability in 
meeting the Council’s investment objectives are monitored regularly and discussed with 
Arlingclose. 

Update on Investments with Icelandic Banks

In March 2017 the Iceland authorities lifted the restriction of movement of monies from 
the country.  It is hoped that the balances held in Icelandic Krona can be withdrawn in 
2017/18 and this is being pursued in partnership with the LGA.

The latest position on the recoveries of monies invested in the Icelandic banks is as 
follows:  



Page 13

Bank
Original 
Deposit 

£m

Balance 
March 2017 

£m
Heritable Bank 3.000 0.060
Glitnir 6.000 1.400
Landsbanki 4.000 0.000
Total 13.000 1.460

Compliance with Prudential Indicators

The Council confirms compliance with its Prudential Indicators for 2016/17, which were 
set in February 2017. 

The Following indicators are set and monitored each year:

 Estimates of Capital Expenditure;
 Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement;
 Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement;
 Operation Boundary for External Debt;
 Authorised Limit for External Debt;
 Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream ;
 Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions.

Treasury Management Indicators

The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks using the 
following indicators.

Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to 
interest rate risk.  The upper limits on fixed and variable rate interest rate exposures, 
expressed as the proportion of net principal borrowed will be:

2016/17 
Limit

2016/17 
Actual Complied

Upper limit on fixed interest rate exposure 210% 69% 
Upper limit on variable interest rate 
exposure 80% 69% 

Fixed rate investments and borrowings are those where the rate of interest is fixed for 
the whole financial year.  Instruments that mature during the financial year are classed as 
variable rate.  



Page 14

Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Council’s 
exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of fixed 
rate borrowing will be:

Upper 
Limit

Lower 
Limit

31.03.2017 
Actual Complied

Under 12 months 100% 0% 50% 
12 months and within 
24 months 100% 0% 1% 

24 months and within 5 
years 100% 0% 0% 

5 years and within 10 
years 100% 0% 0% 

10 years and above 100% 0% 49% 

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year.  The maturity date of borrowing 
is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment.

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days: The purpose of this 
indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking 
early repayment of its investments.  The limits on the total principal sum invested to final 
maturities beyond the period end will be:

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Limit on principal invested beyond year end £40m £35m £35m
Actual £0m £0m £0m
Complied   

Security: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by 
monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio.  This is 
calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking the 
arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment.

Target Actual Complied

Portfolio average credit rating A AA- 

Liquidity: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk 
by monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments within a rolling 
three month period, without additional borrowing.

Target Actual Complied

Total cash available within 3 months £15 m £15m 



Page 15

Investment Training
Officers have undergone the following training during the year:

Arlingclose – Review of Minimum Revenue Provision. 

Arlingclose – Principles of Treasury Management Workshop.

CCLA – Investments Seminar

CIPFA – Interest rates after Brexit

Arlingclose – Review of Borrowing and Investments.

Arlingclose - Accounts closedown 2016/17.

Grant Thornton - Accounts Workshops for Local Authority Accountants



Page 16

Prudential Indicators 2016/17

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to have regard to CIPFA’s 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) when 
determining how much money it can afford to borrow. The objectives of the Prudential 
Code are to ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital investment plans of local 
authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable and that treasury management decisions 
are taken in accordance with good professional practice. To demonstrate that the Council 
has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets out the following indicators that 
must be set and monitored each year.

This report compares the approved indicators with the outturn position for 2016/17. 
Actual figures have been taken from or prepared on a basis consistent with, the 
Authority’s statement of accounts.

Capital Expenditure: The Council’s capital expenditure and financing may be 
summarised as follows.   

Capital Expenditure and 
Financing

2016/17 
Estimate

£m

2016/17 
Actual

£m

Difference
£m

General Fund 104.910 90.423 14.487

Total Expenditure 104.910 90.423 14.487

Capital Receipts 8.510 1.216 -7.294

Grants & Contributions 48.080 38.428 -9.652

Reserves 0.0 0 0

Revenue 2.590 0.340 -2.250

Borrowing 45.730 50.439 4.709

Leasing and PFI 0 0 0

Total Financing 104.910 90.423 14.487

Capital Financing Requirement:  The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures 
the Authority’s underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose.

Capital Financing 
Requirement

31.03.17 
Estimate

£m

31.03.17 
Actual

£m

Difference
£m

General Fund 329.230 357.065 27.835

Total CFR 329.230 357.065 27.835



Page 17

The CFR rose by £28m capital expenditure financed by debt outweighs resources put 
aside for debt repayment.  
The increase in CFR shows that the Council is increasing its borrowing to pay for capital 
expenditure in the city.

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement: In order to ensure that over 
the medium term debt will only be for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that 
debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital financing requirement 
in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for 
the current and next two financial years. This is a key indicator of prudence.

Actual Debt:  The Council’s actual debt at 31 March 2017 was as follows:

Debt
31.03.16 
Estimate

£m

31.03.17 
Actual

£m

Difference
£m

Borrowing 288 287 (1)

PFI liabilities & other 
Finance leases

125 113 (12)

Total Debt 413 400 (13)

Total debt is expected to remain below the CFR during the forecast period. 
The actual debt levels are monitored against the Operational Boundary and Authorised 
Limit for External Debt, below. 

Operational Boundary for External Debt: The operational boundary is based on the 
Council’s estimate of most likely (i.e. prudent, but not worst case) scenario for external 
debt. It links directly to the Authority’s estimates of capital expenditure, the capital 
financing requirement and cash flow requirements, and is a key management tool for in-
year monitoring.  Other long-term liabilities comprise finance lease, Private Finance 
Initiative and other liabilities that are not borrowing but form part of the Council’s debt.

Operational Boundary
31.03.17 

Boundary
£m

31.03.17 
Actual 
Debt
£m

Complied

Borrowing 350 287 

Other long-term liabilities 140 113 

Total Debt 490 400 



Page 18

Authorised Limit for External Debt: The authorised limit is the affordable borrowing 
limit determined in compliance with the Local Government Act 2003 

It is the maximum amount of debt that the Council can legally owe.  The authorised limit 
provides headroom over and above the operational boundary for unusual cash 
movements.

Authorised Limit
31.03.17 

Boundary
£m

31.03.17 
Actual 
Debt
£m

Complied

Borrowing 400 287 

Other long-term liabilities 160 113 

Total Debt 560 400 

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream: This is an indicator of 
affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and proposed capital 
expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet 
financing costs, net of investment income.

Ratio of Financing 
Costs to Net Revenue 
Stream

2016/17 
Estimate

%

2017/18 
Actual

%

Difference
%

General Fund 4.95% 1.75% 3.20%

Recommendations

1. To note the Treasury Management Annual Report 2016/17.
2. To refer the Treasury Management Annual Report 2016/17 to Council for 

approval.


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	5 Health Improvement Contract Award
	Health Improvement Service Contract Award Cabinet report part 2 FINAL

	6 Annual Treasury Management Report

